**FILED**

**NOV 26 2014**

**HEATHER L. SMITH  
CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS**

**No. 14-112219-A**

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS**

---

**In the Matter of D.A.J.D.**

**CHRISTOPHER BRECHEISEN  
Petitioner-Appellant**

**and**

**BRIAN DICKERMAN  
Respondent-Appellee**

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
CHRISTOPHER BRECHEISEN**

---

**Appeal from the District Court of SALINE County, Kansas  
Honorable Jared B. Johnson  
District Court Case No. 13 AD 13**

---

**Janice Norlin, Supreme Court No. 17631  
Marietta, Kellogg and Price  
148 S. 7<sup>th</sup> Street  
Salina, Kansas 67401  
785-825-5403; 785-825-0576 (fax)

### Nature of the Case

Stepfather, Christopher Brecheisen, appeals the District Court's Order denying the stepparent adoption in Saline County Case Number 13 AD 13.

### Statement of Issues

- Issue I: The District Court misinterpreted and misapplied K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 59-2136 in denying the stepparent adoption.**
- Issue II: The District Court's decision to deny the Stepparent Adoption was not supported by substantial competent evidence.**

### Statement of Facts

D.A.J.D. was born in 2009 to B.D., the natural father ("Father") and M.J. the natural mother ("Mother"). (R. I, 109). Mother and Father never married. (R. IV, 26, lines 15-16).

C.B. (Stepfather) and Mother married on July 4, 2013. (R. II, 28, lines 5-6). C.B. is Mother's spouse and D.A.J.D.'s Stepfather. (R. I, 109) (R. IV, 30, lines 3-9). C.B. filed the original Petition for Stepparent Adoption on July 26, 2013. (R. I, 1).

From Approximately 2008 through December 2010, Father and Mother resided together as a couple in Salina, Kansas. According to Mother, Father showed love and affection to D.A.J.D. when they lived together. (R. II, 60, lines 16-25; 61, 1; R. I, 109).

In December 2010, Father moved out of the residence. (R.II, 14, lines 14-18). Father and Mother's relationship ended in large part to Father's drug use. Toward the end of the relationship, Father would leave the residence for weeks at a time, return, and leave again for days at a time. Father brought drugs into the home. (R. I, 109).

From December 2010, Father visited D.A.J.D after work for a “couple” of hours. Father visited D.A.J.D every other weekend. Mother and Father would meet in New Cambria, she would leave D.A.J.D with Father, and she would pick up D.A.J.D on Sunday. (R. I, 110).

C.B. and Mother began dating in December 2010 and they moved in together in April 2011.

Visitation between D.A.J.D and Father continued until April 16, 2011. On that date, Father had D.A.J.D for visitation over the weekend. (R. I, 110).

Michael B. Ade, officer with the Abilene Police Department, was called on April 16, 2011, to investigate a possible burglary at Green Ford in Abilene, Kansas. (R. II, 7, lines 7-25). Ade’s partner made contact and arrested Father. (R. II, 8, lines 9-25). Father did not inform Officer Ade that D.A.J.D. was in a hotel room. (R. II, 9, lines-9-25). It was 37degrees outside. D.A.J.D. was found by an open window with the screen pushed out. (R. II, 10, lines 1-22). Drugs were found in the hotel room. *See Stepfather’s Exhibit 6.*

Father left D.A.J.D in a 2<sup>nd</sup> floor hotel room in Abilene unattended. When law enforcement arrived at the hotel room, they could hear D.A.J.D crying. D.A.J.D was 17 months of age at the time of this incident. (R. IV, 54, lines 7-9). *See Stepfather’s Exhibit 6.* A juvenile intake officer contacted Mother and returned D.A.J.D to her. (R. I, 110).

As a result of the April 16, 2011, investigation, Father was arrested and charged with possession of illegal drugs and obstructing legal process in Dickinson County Case Number 11 CR 63. The Dickinson County Attorney filed a Child in Need of Care Case

Number 11 JC 37. (R. I, 110). On April 29, 2011, Mother filed a paternity action against Father in Saline County, Kansas, Case Number 11 DM 408. (R. I, 110).

The Dickinson County Child in Need of Care case was subsequently dismissed upon the filing of the Saline County Paternity case. On May 5, 2011, Father was served in the paternity case while being held in the Dickinson County Jail. (R. I, 110). Father neither appeared, nor filed an Answer in the paternity case. Father was not represented by counsel and was incarcerated at the time of the final hearing in that matter. (R. I, 111).

The Saline County District Court determined Father to be D.A.J.D's biological father and Mother received sole custody. The Journal Entry included an order for child support in the amount of \$177 a month, effective May 1, 2011. (R. I, 111).

Although the Court ordered that Father have no contact with D.A.J.D, he continued to request and Mother allowed parenting time with D.A.J.D. (R. I, 111).

Sometime in September 2011, at Mother's request, Father agreed to "look into" the Income Withholding Order from Grain Belt Supply, his employer. Father was aware of the child support order. (R. I, 111).

Subsequent to the paternity case, Father received parenting time supervised by her and at Mother's discretion. The visits occurred at the park, the mall, McDonalds, and at a relative's home. According to Mother, she was not concerned with D.A.J.D's safety during visitation when she was present. Father would text Mother asking to see D.A.J.D and Mother would text back with the date and location to meet. Father was allowed supervised visitation with D.A.J.D on the following dates in 2011: July 26, August 3 and

12, September 2 and 21, October 3, 7, 18, 26, November 9 and 12, December 7 and 14.

He was also allowed visitation on January 4, 2012. (R. I, 111-112).

During the period Father was allowed to visit D.A.J.D, Father gave D.A.J.D clothes, diapers, a toy, a cowboy hat and video game for his birthday in November 2011 and a Christmas present at the January 4, 2012 visit. (R. I, 112).

On January 4, 2012, Mother learned that Father's girlfriend (current wife), was pregnant. (R. I, 112). Father's last supervised visit with D.A.J.D. was January 4, 2012. (R. IV, 23, lines 5-12). D.A.J.D received no presents, cards, telephone calls, after January 4, 2012. (R. IV, 23, lines 5- 25; R. IV, 24, lines 1-7).

On January 2, 2012, Father texted Mother asking to see D.A.J.D because he missed him. Mother responded "I will let u know tmrw." The text conversation is silent until January 11, 2012, when Father texts stating "you not talking to me now." Mother responds, "I will contact you when D.A.J.D and I are available." On January 17, 2012, Mother responded to Father and the following text exchange occurred:

- a. Mother: "I hate to keep you wondering when u will see D.A.J.D. but I have to be honest.....my job is to protect him and you keep popping out kids as if it is a game!!!! I have SOLE custody and u owe 4,000 in child support. So to be honest.....u can see D.A.J.D. holidays and birthdays."
- b. Father: "no im none of those I don't' know what to say I don't want to fight with you and I love D.A.J.D. so much and I will do anything to prove it"
- c. Mother: "U have already shown that.... I don't want to fight either but my job, life and concern is D.A.J.D!!!! I don't want to confuse him and he is soooo happy!!
- d. Mother: "U need to move on!!!!"
- e. Father: "Ill never move on from him you'll see"
- f. Mother: "No ur choice"

(R. I, 112-113).

Father texted Mother and asked to see D.A.J.D. or inquire regarding his well being on the following dates in 2012: January 27, February 14 and 19, March 6, April 7,

May 13, June 16 and 19, August 2, October 16, November 3, 6, 9, and 14 and December 11<sup>th</sup>. (R. I, 113-114).

From January 27, 2012 through December 11, 2012, Father sent Mother approximately 91 text messages in 15 days. Of those 91 texts, Father asked for and received 25 photographs of D.A.J.D. (R. I, 114). *See Father's Exhibit B.* Father specifically asked to see or visit D.A.J.D. in 12 of the texts. Father asked if there was anything he could do or provide for D.A.J.D. in 3 of the texts, including his offer to purchase gifts for D.A.J.D.'s birthday and for Christmas. On June 19, 2012, Father texted Mother regarding D.A.J.D.'s well-being because he heard D.A.J.D. was in the hospital. *See Father's Exhibit B.*

In early November 2012, Father was again expressing his love for D.A.J.D. and desire to see him in this series of texts:

- a. Father: "Honestly there has not been one day since the last time I got to see him and hug him that I have not thought about him and it tears my heart apart knowing he is so close but I cannot see him I tear up every time anyone asks me about him or how he is and i cannot answer them."
- b. Father: [Mother does not respond directly to the above text and on November 6, 2012 Father text Mother} "Is D.A.J.D. getting excited about turning 3"
- c. Mother: "Yes! He says my birthday coming!"
- d. Father: "What does he want for his birthday"
- e. Mother: "He is happy with what he has. He is too young to even know what he wants he is not picky."
- f. Father: "Can I still see him on his birthday like you said I'd love to see and hold again."
- g. Mother: "Father.....I don't think that's a good idea for a lot of reasons. 1) would not remember u and be scared 2) I don't want to confuse him 3) I'm not ready I still have a lot of anger about what happened or could of happened. I have tried to block it out of my mind and every time I think of that phone call saying we have ur son at Dickinson county jail I want to scream!!! I may not have trusted you with us but I trusted u with D.A.J.D. I'm getting angry talking about it. Please respect my decision."

- h. Father: "I do and I understand I just hope that one day you will be able to forgive me and let me our son who I love so much again hope you guys have a great nite give him an extra hug and Kiss tonight from me at least."
- i. Mother: "K. Thanks for respecting my decision."

(R. I, 114-115).

Father and Mother's last text exchange occurred on December 11, 2012. See Father's Exhibit B texts #81-#91. Father's last text to Mother was January 1, 2013, when he texted her "HAPPY NEW YEARS." See *Father's Exhibit B text #92*. (R. II, 35, lines 1-18). (R. II, 116, lines 15-21).

On October 7, 2013, Father made his first child support payment in the paternity case. (R. I, 116).

Mother testified that she denied father opportunities to meet with D.A.J.D. and to give him presents. Mother believed that D.A.J.D. "deserved something better." Mother believes her current husband will be a better father. (R. I, 115).

C.B. and Mother resided together continuously since April 2011. According to Mother and C.B., D.A.J.D. believes C.B. is his father and "doesn't have a clue who Father is." (R. I, 116). On January 14, 2014, Father testified that it's been two years since he's seen D.A.J.D face to face. (R. II, 122, lines 2-6).

D.A.J.D. is on C.B.'s health insurance plan. C.B. and Mother provide for D.A.J.D. financially. C.B. is employed as a pilot for Blue Beacon. C.B. has worked for Blue Beacon for the past 10 years and has a good reputation in the community. C.B. desires to be D.A.J.D.'s father. C.B. has 3 other children from a previous relationship. (R. I, 116) (R. IV, 45, lines 10-13).

On January 26, 2013, Mother began communicating with M.D., Father's current wife, about Father. Mother became fearful when she learned about Father's drug use through M.D. (R. I, 115). *See Stepfather's Exhibit 11.*

Mother and M.D. exchanged texts between January 26, 2013 and August 31, 2013.

On January 26, 2013 at 10:35 A.M.

- a. Mother: "How does he get to work? Just curious bc on my way to work I have to pass his work."
- b. M.D.: "Not sure how he is now today was the first day I seen him since Wednesday"
- c. Mother: "Oh. Do you think he was high today?"
- d. M.D.: "I know he was"
- e. M.D.: "I can tell over the phone if he is"
- f. M.D.: "He went from To" [two pictures attached to text]
- g. M.D.: "He really wanted to do good but got sucked back in I think that's what makes this so hard knowing its drugs thsts deciding our future"
- h. Mother: "It was the same with me....drugs will always win. He will say he will stop I couldn't let him bring me down with him."
- i. M.D.: "I've never seen it take someone over like this its awful"
- j. Mother: "I know. He goes off in his own world."
- k. M.D.: "He doesn't even make sense byt then blames me (his favorite line I don't know what you are fucking tAlking about). I wish I could bring him back but I have to give up its not fAir to my kids"

On January 27, 2103 at 10:43 A.M.

- a. M.D.: "How did you get him to quit being so mean he was always so polite when I seem him talk to you"
- b. Mother: "Idk. I always tried listening to him even tho I know he was messed up which was hard to do. The worse thing he ever did to me in violence was I asked to see his phone he threw it at me and said fuck you. Do you know what he's taking?"
- c. M.D.: "Meth"
- d. M.D.: "The last couple months he started hanging out with Shane and that's when he changed"
- e. M.D.: "And I took his phone and he said fuck you and pushed me down and stole my car and left"

On January 27, 2013 at 11:12 A.M.

- a. M.D.: "My mom Just called someone stole their quad"
- b. Mother: "Hmmm. Does he still have his?"
- c. M.D.: "He gave it to me for bailing him out they were together but I moved his"
- d. Mother: "You moved his to your parents???"
- e. M.D.: "He admitted he took it I should just get the police involved cause That's the third thing he's taken"

- f. Mother: "I think you should before he goes farther. If you don't worse things could happen. It's hard but its best for you and kids!!"

On January 28, 2013 at 12:59 P.M.

- a. M.D.: "If he tries taking me to court to see Bryce will u be on my side I do not trust him with him by himself only if I am there I'm so scared"
- b. Mother: "ABSOLUTELY !!!! I feel the same!!"
- c. M.D.: "Who knows what he would do with him by himself and the people he would have around him"
- d. M.D.: "What if he try's to take him from me"

On February 4, 2013 at 5:40 P.M.

- a. M.D.: "This might seem weird but if u have any of drakes baby clothes I could use them Brian says he doesn't want to pay me if he can't see him and all j asked for was a couple of months with hkm away from me I even let him borrow my car with those conditions. I could give you some money garage sale style"
- b. Mother: "What size is he wear now?"
- c. Mother: "Was he pissed about 4 wheeler?"
- d. M.D.: "He's 3-6 6-9 and has some 12 month that fit...I kinda felt weird asking but I haven't been this broke since I was 16"

On February 5, 2013 at 7:45 A.M.

- a. M.D.: "That would be great, Brian is the sickest person I have ever met he was on Skype and I said what are y going to do what I want or do I need to go get pfa and talk to child support inforcement he put something in his mouth I asked what is that he said shot gun look what you've done"
- b. Mother: "Omg!! Is that why you called last night? If your driving to work you can call"
- c. M.D.: "U know what he told me once he was going to keep having babies until he found someone fucked up enough to give him one this was before we were together I thought he was just playing"
- d. Mother: "Wow....that is crazy!! I had a nightmare last night that he tried to take drake so I ended up sleeping with drake."

On February 13, 2103 8:47 P.M.

- a. M.D.: "How did you keep him out of your life"
- b. Mother: "It was hard a t first bc I felt bad for drake. I just stopped responding to him. Did u give the truck back to him?"
- c. M.D.: "No but I let him use it and tonight he was riding with me and jumped out of the car driving down old 40 I have the truck sold"

On March 4, 2013 at 12:57 P.M.

- a. M.D.: "He was staying with his mom and we were trying but then Monday we went riding and cop wa at house when we got home and they arrested hkm so I bail hkm out 2000 and the next morning j seen his phone he had been texting someone after I went to sleep"
- b. Mother: "What did he get arrested for? Now what?"
- c. M.D.: "Not goin to probation"

The text messages indicated his girlfriend was enduring the same tragic cycle of drug addiction, neglect, abusive type behavior that Mother has previously endured. His girlfriend was looking for support. Mother was aware of the same cycle and the danger that would pose to D.A.J.D. (R. I, 38). (R. II, 117, lines 11-24).

From January 1, 2011 until July 26, 2013, the filing of the original petition, Father spent 171 days in jail. In December 2011, Father gave Mother \$100. (R. I, 116).

Between March 2012 and March 2014, Father spent the following dates in jail:

- a. February 25, 2013 (released the same day)
- b. March 20, 2013 through May 19, 2013 (R. I, 117).

(R. II, 118, lines 11-20).

Father's probation was revoked for a dirty U.A. and was in jail from March 20, 2013 through May 19, 2013. (R. IV, 51, lines 21-25). During Father's incarceration, he participated in the work release program. (R. II, 102, lines 8-10).

After Father was released from jail on May 19, 2013, he did not pay child support nor pursue any legal options available to see D.A.J.D. (R. II, 118, lines 5-10). Father testified Mother did not prevent Father from paying child support or retaining counsel in the paternity case. (R. IV, 54, lines 21-23). Father testified that he has been willing to let Stepfather and Mother support and care for D.A.J.D. (R.IV, 54, lines 10-20).

Father further testified that it had been two years since he had seen D.A.J.D. face to face and that it had been his choice not to pursue the options and opportunities available to him to change that. (R. II, 122, lines 2-10).

On October 4, 2013, Respondent's counsel entered an appearance in the Step-parent Adoption. (R. I, 8). On October 17, 2013, Respondent filed a Motion to Modify Custody and Establish Parenting time in the paternity case, Saline County District Court

Case No. 11 DM 408. (R. I, 117).

Father made the following court-ordered child support payments for a total of \$1,362 during the two years preceding filing the Amended Petition: \$227-October 2013; \$227-November 2013; \$227-December 2013; \$227-January 2014; \$227-February 2014; \$227-March 2014 (R. I, 116).

Father's tax returns reflect that he had the option or capability of providing support. (R. I, 38). Father testified that he was gainfully employed in 2011, 2012, and 2013. (R. IV, 56, lines 1-5). Father testified that his income was \$16,839 in 2011. (R. I, 137, line 2). Father testified that his 2012 income was \$33,944 and his 2013 income was \$31,000. (R. IV, 56, lines 6-10).

Father is currently employed by a construction company in Salina. He is married to M.D. and they have one male child together, YOB: 2012. M.D. has one or more children from a previous relationship that resides in their home. (R. I, 116-117) (R. II, 121, lines 8-20). Father has an eleven year old son who lives with his maternal grandmother in Kansas City. (R. IV. 12, lines 21-25; 13, lines 1-10). Father's current household includes his wife, M.D., their son, a stepdaughter and a nine-year old stepson. (R. II, 113, lines 24-25 and 114, lines 1-25). (R. II, 121, lines 10-20). (R. IV, 45, lines 10-13; 56, lines 19-25). Father supports his current wife, their son, and his two stepchildren. M.D. receives no support from the older children's father. (R. IV, 57, lines 1-5). Father also testified that he had a truck payment of \$350 per month. (R. II, 121, lines 21-23).

Father is currently on probation supervised by the Eighth Judicial District Community Corrections for three separate Dickinson County cases. On March 27, 2013,

his probation was revoked and reinstated for 18 months with a 60 day jail sanction and the added condition that he obtain a drug and alcohol evaluation and comply with the recommendations thereof. (R. I, 117).

Father tested positive to methamphetamine on March 20, 2013, thereafter, Father tested negative for any illegal substances or alcohol. (R. I, 117).

Since March 2013, Father reported to all probation appointments, obtained a drug and alcohol evaluation, and began counseling through Sandstone Bridge Center of Salina, KS. (R. I, 117).

On May 15, 2014, Father testified that approximately March 2014, while on probation, he was in a Salina Bar and shared some beers with C.B., Mother, and M.D. Father further testified that he did not self-report to his probation officer. (R. IV, 57, lines 6-25; 58, lines 1-5).

Father currently has a case pending in Salina Municipal Court for Disorderly Conduct and Battery. (R. I, 117). On May 15, 2014, Father testified that at the hearing January 14, 2014, he did not inform the court of his pending municipal court charges for disorderly conduct and battery for events that occurred on December 14, 2013. (R. IV, 58, lines 6-12).

The first trial in this matter occurred on January 14, 2014. After presentation of evidence, this Court denied C.B.'s stepparent adoption. Thereafter, C.B.'s counsel filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment and a Motion for Leave to Amend the Adoption Petition. C.B. acknowledged that K.S.A. 59-2136(d) does not apply and reference thereto in the original Petition was in error. Father is the child's presumed father pursuant to K.S.A. 23-2208(a)(4) and (6) not pursuant to K.S.A. 23-2208(a)(1), (2) or (3) as

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