FILED

DEC 2 4 2014

HEATHER L. SMITH CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

No. 14-112219-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

In the Matter of DAJD)	
CHRISTOPHER BRE	CHEISEN,)	
)	
Pe	etitioner,)	
vs.) Case 13 - AD - 13	
BRIAN DICKERMAN	,		
Re	espondent.)	
	BRIEF OF APPELLEE		

Appeal from the District Court of Saline County, Honorable Jared B. Johnson, Judge, District Court Case No. 13 AD 13.

Russel B. Prophet, #20392, of HAMPTON & ROYCE, L.C. 9th Floor - United Building 119 West Iron - P.O. Box 1247 Salina, Kansas 67402-1247 Attorneys for Respondent-Appellee

Oral Argument: 15 minutes.

No. 14-112219-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

In the Matter of DAJD,	,)

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

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

I. The district court did not err in its application of K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 59-2136.

Appellate courts exercise de novo review of a trial court's interpretation of a statute. State v. Bryan, 281 Kan. 157, 159, 130 P.3d 85 (2006). The petitioner in an adoption proceeding has the burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that termination of parental rights is warranted. In re Adoption of BBM, 290 Kan. 236 (2010). "Adoption statutes are strictly construed in favor of maintaining the rights of natural parents in those cases where it is claimed that, by reason of a parent's failure to fulfill parental obligations as prescribed by statute, consent o the adoption is not required." In the Matt of the Adoption of GLV and MJV, 288 Kan. 1034, Syll. (2008). A court reviewing a request to involuntarily terminate parental rights may not seek "better families" for children whose family circumstances are challenging or financially difficult. In re Adoption of Baby Girl P, 291 Kan. 424, 435-436 (2010). "The preservation of a father's relationship with his child is the starting point of a termination proceeding, not the finish line that a father must labor to reach." See id at 433.

Brecheisen argues that the trial court incorrectly applied K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 59-2136(h)(1)(G) to require Dickerman to fail to provide both emotion and financial support for a two-year period preceding the filing of the amended petition. The Court's order of June 20, 2014, however, never states that it required Brecheisen to prove failure by Dickerman to provide emotional and financial support to satisfy the requirements of 2013 Supp. 59-2136(h)(1)(G). Rather, the district court specifically found that Brecheisen

failed to meet his burden of clear and convincing evidence that Dickerman did not provide emotional or financial support.

With regard to emotional support, the court noted that Dickerman had been active in the child's life and maintained a relationship with him until the child's mother intentionally blocked him from further contact. As the district court noted, it must consider all surrounding circumstances and can consider conduct prior to the two-year look back period. In re Adoption of JMD, 293 Kan. 153 (2011); In re Adoption of AP, 26 Kan. App. 2d 210 (1999). The district court's summary of Dickerman's involvement with the child is a full two pages of its 19 page opinion (p.13-14), including living with the child until December 2010, regular visits with the child after separation from his mother, and at least 14 separate visits with the child from July 2011 through January 4, 2012.

The district court notes on page 13 of its opinion, "Melinda affirmatively prohibited Brian from seeing Drake." Vol. 5, p.13. had actively blocked Dickerman's requests for visitation with the child after January 4, 2012. The court notes on page 16 of its opinion, "one of the circumstances this court considered was the fact that Melinda interfered with Brian's repeated requests to visit Drake." The court went on to note that Dickerman demonstrated affection, care and interest towards the child by his repeated text messages to the mother, his actions in retaining counsel and filing a request to modify custody to allow him visitation in October of 2013. The court noted that it "does not doubt that Brian would have continued visits absent Melinda's decision to discontinue contact. The text messages, retention of counsel, and the motion to modify

custody were not incidental acts, "[t]hese are the actions of a father who is attempting to maintain a relationship with his child, not the actions of a father who is neglecting his child.", *citing* In re Adoptoin of Baby Girl P, 291 Kan. 424, 434 (2010).

With regard to financial support, the trial court noted that Dickerman made 6 child support payments in the two years preceding the amended petition with additional amounts applied to the child support arrearage. Vol. 5, p.17. The court noted that Dickerman and his family were battling foreclosure on their home and struggling financially. *Id.* The court stated that Dickerman may have been able to pay more toward child support, but specifically found that Brecheisen failed to meet his clear and convincing burden of proof to show that the payments made under the circumstances did not constitute a substantial portion of child support.

The district court specifically addressed both emotional and financial support, and in both circumstances found that Brecheisen had not demonstrated a failure of support by Dickerman in either regard. The error in application of the statute alleged by Brecheisen, that the district court required him to prove both failure of emotional and financial support, is irrelevant as the court found he failed to show any failure of support by Dickerman. Moreover, the alleged requirement of proof of both failures is never made in the court's extensive 19 page opinion.

II. The district court's decision to deny the step-parent adoption was supported by substantial competent evidence.

A trial court's decision is reviewed in the light most favorable to the prevailing party below to ascertain whether it was supported by substantial competent evidence. In

the Matter of JMD, 293 Kan. 153, 171 (2011). Substantial competent evidence possesses both relevance and substance and provides a substantial basis of fact from which the issues can be reasonably determined. Frick Farm Properties v. Kansas Dept. Of

Agriculture, 289 Kan. 690, 709, 216 P.3d 170 (2009). An appellate court should not weigh conflicting evidence, pass on the credibility of witnesses, or redetermine questions of fact. In re BDY, 286 Kan. 686, 705, 187 P.3d 594 (2008).

Brecheisen argues that the court did not have substantial competent evidence that Dickerman had been shown to be unfit, that his contacts with the child were incidental only, that Dickerman should have paid more child support, that the mother did not interfere with Dickerman's attempts to visit the child, and that it was in the child's best interests to terminate Dickerman's parental rights. Brecheisen's arguments universally fail to recognize that it was his burden to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence his claims.

With regard to unfitness, the district court noted that the mother and child lived with Dickerman until December 2010 and was involved in the child's daily activities until his relationship with the mother ended. The court noted that Dickerman has a history of criminal convictions related to drug use and was involved in an April 2011 incident in which his son was left alone in a motel room. Nonetheless, the mother saw the benefit of him having relationship with his son and had continued to allow him visits. When the mother obtained sole custody in an uncontested paternity case, she still continued to allow Dickerman to spend time with his child on a regular basis, including at least 14 visits from July 2011 through January 2012. The court specifically found that the

mother discontinued visits with Dickerman not because she was concerned about his possible drug use or from fear for her son's safety, but because she was angry at him for getting his wife pregnant and not paying her child support. The court noted that Brian persisted in his attempts to have a relationship with his son despite the mother's urging that he "move on". The court noted the factors in K.S.A. 38-2269(b) regarding findings of unfitness, but after weighing them with the testimony concluded that there had not been a clear and convincing showing of parental unfitness. This finding should not be disturbed on appeal.

Brecheisen argues that the father's contacts with the child were incidental only, and could have been disregarded under 2013 Supp. 59-2136(h)(2)(B). The court noted that during the two-year look back period Dickerman texted the mother repeatedly to express his affection concerning his son and request to see him and retained counsel and requested through that counsel to have court ordered parenting time. As discussed previously, the court specifically noted that the child's mother mislead Dickerman by initially telling him he could see his son on holidays and his birthday, requiring some period of time for Dickerman to realize she did not intend to allow him any further visits. Relying in part on In re Baby Girl P, 291 Kan. 424, 242 P.3d 1168 (2010), which specifically noted actions in retaining counsel to obtain visitation, offering to give gifts or assistance, and demonstrating a commitment to assuming the role of a father or not incidental contact, the district court correctly found Dickerman's actions to be more than incidental.

With regard to child support, the court noted the testimony concerning

Dickerman's financial troubles, the fact that he was dealing with a mortgage foreclosure

at the time of the hearing, and his regular monthly payments of child support beginning in

October of 2013 that included a voluntary amount to be applied toward his arrears in

holding his financial support was sufficient in the circumstances. Again, it is

Brecheisen's duty to present clear and convincing evidence to convince the court

Dickerman had not paid a substantial amount of child support when able to do so, and

evidence was provided that supported the court's decision to find the financial support

sufficient.

On the child's best interests, testimony was provided that Dickerman was a good father early in the child's life and that he made repeated attempts to assume his duties as a father after the parties separation. Dickerman's parental rights are fundamental, constitutionally protected rights. Adoption of GLV, 286 Kan. 1034, 1061-1062 (2008). Although Brecheisen may appear in some respects to be a better choice as a father to the child, the court cannot reassign children parents. No grounds exist in this case to terminate Dickerman's rights, and the district court in this case correctly refused to do so.

Respectfully submitted,

Russel B. Prophet, #20392, of HAMPTON & ROYCE, L.C. 9th Floor - United Building 119 West Iron - P.O. Box 1247 Salina, Kansas 67402-1247 (785) 827-7251 Attorneys for Appellee

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Russel B. Prophet, hereby certify that on this 23rd day of December, 2014, I mailed two (2) true and correct copies of the above and foregoing Brief of the Appellants by United States mail, first class, portage prepaid to:

Janice Norlin Marietta, Kellogg and Price 148 S. 7th Street Salina, KS 67401

that on that same date, I mailed sixteen (16) a true and correct copies of the same for filing to:

Carol Green Clerk of the Kansas Court of Appeals Kansas Judicial Center

301 S.W. 10th Ave

Topeka, KS 66612-1507

Russel B. Prophet

APPENDIX "A"

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF SALINE COUNTY, KANSAS					
In the Matter of the Adoption of)	2014 JULY 20 AM 11: 34			
v.) Case No. 2013 AD 13	a			
Drake Alan Johnson Dickerman)	·			

MEMORANDUM DECISION & ORDER

In chambers, on June 20, 2014, the Court, after reviewing the pleadings, the evidence presented at hearing on January 14, 2014 and at hearing on May 15, 2014, and considering arguments of counsel, enters the following decision on the Petition for Step Parent Adoption-Amended.

FINDINGS OF FACT

- Drake Alan Johnson Dickerman ("Drake") was born in 2009 to Brian Dickerman ("Brian"), the natural father, and Melinda Brecheisen ("Melinda") the natural mother.
- 2. Petitioner, Chris Brecheisen, is Melinda's husband. Petitioner and Melinda married on July 4, 2013.
- 3. From approximately 2008 through December 2010, Brian and Melinda resided together as a couple. According to Melinda, Brian was a loving and affectionate father when they lived together.
- 4. In December 2010, Brian moved out of the residence. Brian and Melinda's relationship ended in large part due to Brian's drug use. Toward the end of the relationship, Brian would leave the residence for weeks at a time, return, and leave again for days at a time. Brian brought drugs into the home.

- 5. From December 2010, Brian visited Drake after work for a "couple" of hours. Brian visited Drake every other weekend. Melinda and Brian would meet in New Cambria, she would leave Drake with Brian, and she would pick up Drake on Sunday.
- 6. Petitioner and Melinda began dating in December 2010 and they moved in together in April 2011.
- 7. Visitation between Drake and Brian continued until April 16, 2011. On that date, Brian had Drake for visitation over the weekend. Brian left Drake in a hotel room unattended. When law enforcement arrived at the hotel room, they could hear Drake crying. A juvenile intake officer contacted Melinda and returned Drake to her.
- 8. As a result of the April 16, 2011 investigation, Brian was arrested and charged with possession of illegal drugs and obstructing legal process in Dickinson County Case Number 11 CR 63.
- The Dickinson County Attorney filed a Child in Need of Care case number 11 JC
 37.
- 10. On April 29, 2011, Melinda filed a paternity action against Brian in Saline County, Kansas case number 11 DM 408.
- 11. The Dickinson County Child in Need of Care case was subsequently dismissed upon the filing of the Saline County Paternity case.
- 12. On May 5, 2011, Brian was served in the paternity case while being held in the Dickinson County Jail.

- 13. Brian neither appeared, nor did filed an Answer in the paternity case. Brian was not represented by counsel and was incarcerated at the time of the final hearing in that matter.
- 14. Brian was determined to be Drake's biological father and Melinda received sole custody. Although the Court ordered that Brian have no contact with Drake, he continued to request, and Melinda allowed parenting time with Drake.
- 15. The Journal Entry included an order for child support in the amount of \$177 a month effective May 1, 2011.
- 16. Sometime in September 2011, at Melinda's request, Brian agreed to "look into" the income withholding order from Grain Belt Supply, his employer. Brian was aware of the child support order.
- 17. Subsequent to the paternity case, Brian received parenting time supervised by her and at Melinda's discretion. The visits occurred at the park, the mall, McDonald's, and at a relative's home. According to Melinda, she was not concerned with Drake's safety during visitation when she was present. Brian would text Melinda asking to see Drake and Melinda would text back with the date and location to meet. Brian was allowed supervised visitation with Drake on the following dates:
 - a. July 26, 2011
 - b. August 3, 2011
 - c. August 12, 2011
 - d. September 2, 2011
 - e. September 21, 2011

- f. October 3, 2011
- g. October 7, 2011
- h. October 18, 2011
- i. October 26, 2011
- j. November 9, 2011
- k. November 12, 2011
- 1. December 7, 2011
- m. December 14, 2011
- n. January 4, 2012
- 18. During the period Brian was allowed to visit Drake, Brian gave Drake clothes, diapers, a toy, a cowboy hat and video game for his birthday in November 2011, and a Christmas present at the January 4, 2012 visit.
- 19. On January 4, 2012, Melinda learned that Brian's girlfriend (current wife), was pregnant.
- 20. On January 2, 2012 Brian texted Melinda asking to see Drake because he missed him. Melinda responded "I will let u know tmrw." The text conversation is silent until January 11, 2012 when Brian texts stating "You not talking to me now." Melinda responds, "I will contact you when drake and I are available."
- 21. Six days later on January 17, 2012, the following exchange occurred between Melinda and Brian via text messaging:
 - a. Melinda: "I hate to keep you wondering when u will see drake but I have to be honest.....my job is to protect him and you keep popping out kids

- as if it is a game!!!! I have SOLE custody and u owe 4,000 in child support. So to be honest.....u can see drake holidays and birthdays."
- b. Brian: "No im none of those I don't know what to say I don't want to fight with you and I love drake so much and I will do anything to prove it"
- c. Melinda: "U have already shown that..... I don't want to fight either but my job, life and concern is drake!!!! I don't want to confuse him and he is soooo happy!!
- d. Melinda: "U need to move on!!!!"
- e. Brian: "Ill never move on from him you'll see"
- f. Melinda: "No ur choice"
- 22. Brian texted Melinda and asked to see Drake or inquire regarding his well being on the following dates:
 - a. January 27, 2012
 - b. February 14, 2012
 - c. February 19, 2012
 - d. March 6, 2012 (Brian also informed Melinda of new employment)
 - e. April 7, 2012
 - f. May 13, 2012
 - g. June 16, 2012
 - h. June 19, 2012
 - i. August 2, 2012
 - j. October 16, 2012
 - k. November 3, 2012

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